

MS-831: Jack, Joseph, and Morton Mandel Foundation Records, 1980 – 2008. Series E: Mandel Foundation Israel, 1984 – 1999.

Box	Folder
D-1	1884

Aron, Isa. "CJENA Report: Toward the Professionalization of Jewish Teaching," 1990.

For more information on this collection, please see the finding aid on the American Jewish Archives website.

3101 Clifton Ave, Cincinnati, Ohio 45220 513.487.3000 AmericanJewishArchives.org



COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

Toward the Professionalization of Jewish Teaching

Isa Aron, Ph.D.

February 1990

Convened by Mandel Associated Foundations, JWB and JESNA in collaboration with CJF

Toward the Professionalization of Jewish Teaching

Isa Aron, Ph.D.

February 1990

A Report Submitted to The Commission for Jewish Education in North America

Isa Aron is an Associate Professor at the Rhea Hirsch School of Education, Hebrew Union College – Jewish Institute of Religion, 3077 University Avenue, Los Angeles, CA 90007

The Commission on Jewish Education in North America was convened by the Mandel Associated Foundations, JWB and JESNA in collaboration with CJF. The ideas expressed in this report are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Commission.

÷ .,

Commissioners

Morton L. Mandel Chairman Mona Riklis Ackerman Ronald Appleby David Arnow Mandell L. Berman Jack Bieler Charles R. Bronfman John C. Colman Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin Stuart E. Eizenstat Joshua Elkin Eli N. Evans Irwin S. Field Max M. Fisher Alfred Gottschalk Arthur Green Irving Greenberg Joseph S. Gruss Robert I. Hiller David Hirschhorn Carol K. Ingall

Ludwig Jesselson Henry Koschitzky Mark Lainer Norman Lamm Sara S. Lee Seymour Martin Lipset Haskel Lookstein Robert E. Loup Matthew J. Maryles Florence Melton Donald R. Mintz Lester Pollack Charles Ratner Esther Leah Ritz Harriet L. Rosenthal Alvin I. Schiff Lionel H. Schipper Ismar Schorsch Harold M. Schulweis Daniel S. Shapiro Margaret W. Tishman Isadore Twersky Bennett Yanowitz Isaiah Zeldin

Senior Policy Advisors

David S. Ariel Seymour Fox Annette Hochstein Stephen H. Hoffman Martin S. Kraar Arthur Rotman Herman D. Stein Jonathan Woocher Henry L. Zucker

Director

Henry L. Zucker

Research & Planning

Seymour Fox, Director Annette Hochstein, Associate Director

Staff

Mark Gurvis Virginia F. Levi Debbie Meline Joseph Reimer

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Section 1	
Legitimacy and Authority as Criteria of Professionalism	3
1.1 The Legitimacy of Teachers	4
1.2 The Autonomy of Teachers	6
1.3 The Prospects for Professionalizing Teachers	9
Section 2	
Legitimacy and Autonomy in Jewish Teaching	13
2.1 Voluntarism	13
2.2 Unclear Lines of Communal Authority and Responsibility	14
2.3 The Part-Time Nature of Jewish Teaching	16
2.4 Establishing the Professional Legitimacy of Jewish Teaching	19
Section 3	
Commitment as a Criterion of Professionalism	23
3.1 The Teacher as a Caring Person	24
3.2 The Teacher as an Integral Member of a Community	25
3.3 The Teacher as a Religious Role Model	27
3.4 Balancing Commitment with Legitimacy and Autonomy	29
Section 4	
The Prospects for Professionalizing Jewish Teachers	31
4.1 Translating the Criteria of Legitimacy and Autonomy into Practical Standards for the Teaching Profession	31
4.2 Making Teaching Attractive as a Profession	33
4.3 Considering the Possibilities of Differentiated Staffing	34
4.4 Conclusion	40
Acknowledgement	41
References	43

- -

The Call for Professionalism in Teaching

Introduction

If one unifying theme could be found for the vast and ever-expanding literature on public school teachers, that theme would be professionalization. Study after study has analyzed the professional shortcomings of teachers, and the societal factors which contribute to their low professional status. Proposals abound for revamping teacher education and, more radically, re-structuring of the profession itself.

In the field of Jewish education as well, discussions of the "Jewish teaching profession" have begun to gather momentum. For example, the proceedings of a national conference on the status of Jewish teachers, held at Brandeis University in 1986, were published under the title *To Build a Profession* (Reimer, 1987). In 1987 a special issue of *Jewish Education* featured a symposium on Jewish teachers. Federations throughout North American have begun to deal with the issue of personnel in Jewish education; a dominant theme in their deliberations has been the need to upgrade the professional status of teachers (Rosenbaum, 1983; CJP of Greater Boston, 1986; Ratner and Reich, 1988).

The notion of the teacher as a well-trained and well-respected professional has long been one of the cherished ideals of all those concerned with Jewish education (Edelstein, 1956; Janowsky, 1967; Dushkin, 1970). The purpose of this paper is to examine this idea more closely: What are the hallmarks of a professional? Are teachers professionals? What are some of the barriers to upgrading the teaching profession in secular education? Is professionalism more difficult to attain in Jewish teaching, and why? Finally, what can be done to increase the professionalism of teachers in Jewish schools?

The structure of the paper centers on three commonly accepted criteria for a profession: legitimacy, autonomy and commitment. Section 1 focuses on two of the criteria, legitimacy and autonomy, and the extent to which teaching as an occupation group meets these criteria. Section 2 concerns the differences between Jewish and secular education, and the implications of these differences for the legitimacy and autonomy of Jewish teachers. Section 3 deals with the third criterion of professionalism, commitment; in it, several dimensions of commitment which are particularly relevant to Jewish teaching are discussed in details. Section 4 returns to the larger question: how professional are Jewish teachers, and how can we increase their professionalism? In this section I argue that policy-makers in Jewish education ought to think in terms of a differentiated staffing structure for Jewish schools.

Section 1

Legitimacy and Authority as Criteria of Professionalism

Most American educators would agree that teaching is, or at least ought to be, a profession. Few, however, attempt to define this term; those who do find that the concept is, to quote Morris Cogan (1953), "shrouded in confusion." The most common way around a definition is to contrast a profession with other, presumably inferior, endeavors. Thus, "professional" is held to be the opposite of "amateur," one who is either untrained or unsalaried. Alternately, "professional" is taken to be the opposite of "crafts-person," whose practice is not grounded in theory or science (Broudy, 1956). Finally, the term "professional," used as an adjective, sometimes connotes altruism or a higher calling, in contrast to "commercial."

Cogan suggests that the ambiguity and imprecision surrounding the term is not accidental, and may be quite functional, for the title "professional" often serves an exhortative, laudatory function. As he puts it, "One reason for the undifferentiated use of 'profession' may be found in the efforts of many persons and groups to secure to themselves the values clustering around it by simply preempting the title" (p. 47).

Since Cogan's article was written the literature on professionalism has grown exponentially, and the "sociology of the professions" has become a sub-field of its own, creating a "scholarly *tsunami*" (Kimball, 1988). Though different scholars offer different taxonomies and use different terms, there seems to be a general scholarly consensus that professionalism is distinguished by at least three criteria: legitimacy, autonomy, and commitment. Legitimacy refers to the special knowledge and expertise to which professionals lay claim; autonomy refers to the control which professionals exert over the ways in which their services are rendered; commitment refers to the special social and moral responsibilities taken on by professionals.

To be considered a profession members of an occupation group must meet all three of these criteria: 1) they must possess a specialized body of knowledge that distinguishes them from the "non-professionals" in the field; 2) they must, as a group or a guild, have the power to shape the conditions under which their work is done; 3) they must view their work as a calling to serve society or some larger cause.

Some examples may help clarify these criteria. At one extreme, medical doctors are clearly professionals, having specialized academic training, a good deal of control over how medicine is practiced (if not individually, then collectively, through their professional organizations), and an obligation to cure sick people. In contrast, workers on an assembly line may have a certain expertise, but this expertise is not based on a theoretical body of knowledge; they have little control over the circumstances under which they work; nor does their work serve a moral purpose. In between the two extremes lies a vast array of occupation groups which meet one criterion better than the other, and whose professional status is unclear. Nurses, for example, like doctors, have a commitment to serve, and derive their expertise from medical science. Unlike doctors, however, nurses have very little control over the way hospitals are organized; their lower professional status is indicative of their weaker authority. In contrast, those engaged in business meet the criterion of autonomy very well. In their effort to meet the criterion of legitimacy, leaders of the business community have attempted to link entry into the field to the mastery of the "sciences" of management, marketing, and administration, as taught in university courses and tested hy examinations. In their effort to meet the criterion of commitment, these same leaders have sponsored courses and programs in business ethics.

Do teachers meet these criteria well enough to be considered *bona fide* professionals? Most of the recent discussion of professionalism in teaching has centered on the first two criteria, legitimacy and autonomy, which, as we shall see, are closely related. The remainder of this section will deal with the question of how much legitimacy and autonomy teaching as an occupation can claim.

1.1 The Legitimacy of Teachers

"Those who can't do, teach, and those who can't teach, teach education." At the root of this old saying lies an assumption, shared by many, that **anyone** can teach. After all, everyone has spent hours and hours in classrooms of all sorts, and been exposed to a variety of models of teaching. If one knows a certain subject, surely one can teach it. And, if anyone can teach, why should teachers be considered professionals?

The widespread perception that good teaching may require some innate talent and, perhaps, some experience, but not any codifiable knowledge, is seen by many as the most serious challenge to the professional standing of teachers (for a review of this literature, see Feiman-Nemser and Floden, 1986, pp. 512- 515). To counter this perception educational researchers and policy-makers have sought to demonstrate that good teachers operate from a firm knowledge base. Lee Shulman, perhaps the foremost proponent of this view summarizes this position in the following way:

The claim that teaching deserves professional status... is based on a ... fundamental premise: that the standards by which the education and performance of teachers must be judged can be raised and more clearly articulated. The advocates of professional reform base their arguments on the belief that there exists a "knowledge base for teaching" — a codified or codifiable aggregation of knowledge, skill, understanding, and technology, of ethics and disposition, of collective responsibility — as well as a means for representing and communicating it. The reports of the Holmes Group and the Carnegie Task Force rest on this belief and, furthermore, claim that the knowledge base is growing. They argue that it should frame teacher education and directly inform teaching practice.

[Shulman 1987, pp. 3-4]

Under a grant from the Carnegie Foundation, Shulman and his colleagues have been working on the creation of a national teachers' exam, akin to the National Board of Medical Examiners. This exam would assess a teachers' knowledge in the following seven categories:

- content knowledge
- general pedagogic knowledge
- curriculum knowledge
- pedagogical content knowledge
- knowledge of learners and their characteristics
- knowledge of educational contexts
- knowledge of educational ends, purposes, and values

[Ibid., p. 8]

The view that the teaching profession is firmly grounded in a body of specialized knowledge has a number of profound and far-reaching implications:

1) Teachers ought to receive specialized training, preferably at the graduate level (Sedlak, 1987, pp. 321-323). Just as a hospital would never think of employing a doctor who did not possess an M.D., a school ought not hire teachers who do not have "state of the art" training.

2) The training teachers receive ought to be, to some extent, standardized. Though a certain amount of variation might be tolerable, and even beneficial, the knowledge base of teaching would dictate that certain guidelines be followed. On the basis of this standardization, training programs may be accredited and their graduates credentialed.

3) Teachers ought to be evaluated at periodic intervals, in some standardized way. Not only must a teacher's knowledge be assessed, but also his or her skill in applying that knowledge in specific situations. Procedures for this type of evaluation must be standardized, to reduce, as much as possible, the subjective element which inheres in all evaluation of performance.

4) Different levels of expertise ought to be delineated, and the status and remuneration of teachers ought to be linked to these stages. The relatively flat career pattern of the teaching profession, wherein novices and veterans, the mediocre and the superb, do essentially the same work and are rewarded according to the same scale (Lortie, 1975) has long been a source of concern among the advocates of educational reform (Sykes, 1983b). The availability of reliable evaluative techniques by which school systems could test teachers' proficiency could serve as the basis for career ladders and differentiated staffing. 5) Finally, teachers ought to be required to keep pace with new developments in their field. The knowledge base of teaching has grown and changed in dramatic ways in the past two decades; the rate of new knowledge production can only quicken. Therefore, it would be imperative for veteran teachers to have mastery of this new body of information, skills and techniques as well.

Without denying the importance of research on teacher knowledge, a number of prominent researchers and scholars have cautioned that this type of research, at least in its current state, cannot serve as a basis for legitimizing the teaching profession. They argue that the "scientific basis" of teaching (Gage, 1978) amounts to little more than a number of low-level generalizations which do not add much to our commonsense notions of what makes for good teaching (Jackson, 1987; Zumwalt, 1982). While Shulman, who employs a different research paradigm, hopes to overcome the narrow technological bias of previous researchers, his work is too preliminary to serve as the sole basis for professional legitimation.

Even were the components of "teacher knowledge" more clearly delineated, developed, and corroborated, would good teaching be directly related to knowledge acquisition? Noting the special way in which personality enters into teaching, some researchers caution against an undue emphasis on knowledge alone.

It is difficult... to disentangle teacher character from teacher competence. The teacher is deeply engaged in his work as a whole person because an effect is required on the student as a whole person.

[Lightfoot, 1983, p. 250]

Education ... possesses neither a codified body of technical knowledge nor a clear technology nor a small set of measurable outcomes. Rather, special and ordinary knowledge are freely mixed, teaching styles and the solution of core problems are heavily dependent on personality and consequently are idiosyncratic, and outcomes are multiple, protean, and intangible.

[Sykes, 1983a, p. 581]

1.2 The Autonomy of Teachers

The second hallmark of a profession is autonomy, the ability of practitioners to control the circumstances and terms under which their service is rendered. Once again, a comparison with doctors, who have a great deal of autonomy, may be helpful. Individual doctors may establish their own office procedures and fee schedules; collectively, they set policies for hospitals, medical schools, and various public health organizations. Of course, in a complex technological society such as our own, most professions are subject to some regulation; a variety of laws and conventions set the parameters within which medical practitioners must operate. Of late, insurance regulations and legal precedents have set further restraints on medical practice. One might, at first glance, assume that teachers too have a good deal of autonomy. Teachers teach behind closed doors; within certain limits, they can establish their own set of classroom procedures and rules. Though they may be given a curriculum and/or a textbook, they can decide themselves just how the subject at hand ought to be taught.

A closer look, however, reveals that the situation is more complicated, and that most teachers operate under constraints more onerous than those of other professions: Unlike the clients of the doctor in private practice, students do not come to school voluntarily; conversely, teachers have relatively little choice as to who their students will be. Most other professions seek to regulate themselves through independent associations; in teaching it is the society at large which dictates its expectations, either through elected school boards or parental pressure (Darling-Hammond, 1989, p. 73). At the school level, policies are usually set by the principal or administrators, few of whom act in consultation with teachers (Goodlad, 1984, pp. 188-191).

Over the past two decades the authority of teachers in public schools has eroded further. Federal and state funding of schools has increased, and has brought with it increased demands for regulating teachers and holding them accountable for student achievement.

Policy makers do not trust teachers to make responsible, educationally appropriate judgments. They do not view teachers as uniformly capable, and they are suspicious about the adequacy of preparation and supervision. These doubts are a measure of the weakness of the professional structure in education and its ability to offer alternative means for guaranteeing quality.

[Darling-Hammond, 1988, pp. 63-64]

Many have argued against this type of bureaucratic control of teachers, claiming that while such control can weed out incompetence, it cannot promote excellence (Green, 1983, pp. 322-323). The complexity of American society, the problems of our student population, and the rising expectations of what schools ought to accomplish, it is argued, demand excellence, not merely competence, autonomous professional teachers, not merely programmed technicians (Devaney and Sykes, 1988).

Teacher excellence and teacher autonomy, in this view, go hand in hand. To attract and retain a cadre of truly professional teachers, one must assure that they will have a hand in shaping the environments in which they work.

A second argument for increasing the autonomy of teachers derives from research on teacher satisfaction and dissatisfaction, the factors which lead to teacher retention, on the one hand, and burnout, on the other. There is mounting evidence that teachers find intrinsic rewards, such as their ability to reach students, more important than the

extrinsic ones of salary and status (Lortie, 1975; McLaughlin and Yee, 1988; Mitchell, Ortiz and Mitchell, 1987). Among the intrinsic rewards mentioned by teachers as key to their level of satisfaction is what some researchers call **capacity**: "the teachers' access to resources and the ability to mobilize them, the availability of tools to do their job, and the capability to influence the goals and direction of their institution" (McLaughlin and Yee, 1988, p. 28).

Teachers with a sense of capacity tend to pursue effectiveness in the classroom, express commitment to organization and career, and report a high level of professional satisfaction. Lacking a sense of power, teachers who care often end up acting in ways that are educationally counterproductive by "coping" – lowering their aspirations, disengaging from the setting, and framing their goals only in terms of getting through the day. Teaching is apt to become just a job, not a career.

[Ibid., p. 29]

What can be done to promote teachers' autonomy? How, despite the inherent constraints in the work situation of teachers, can this aspect of professionalism be enhanced? McLaughlin and Yee (*Ibid.*) found that some schools promote teacher autonomy more than others, and that these schools tend to share five common attributes:

1) They have adequate resources, i.e., sufficient number of textbooks and materials, as well as reasonably hospitable facilities.

2) They exhibit a "unity of purpose, clear organizational guidelines and goals, and a collective sense of responsibility" (p. 31). The principal is key to establishing this productive and cohesive atmosphere.

3) They promote a sense of collegiality among teachers, who are given both opportunity and encouragement to work collaboratively.

4) The orientation of the school is problem-solving, rather than problem-hiding.

A problem-solving ... environment encourages teachers to reflect on their practice, and explore ways to improve it in an ongoing, rather than episodic, basis. It is an environment in which it is safe to be candid and to take the risks inherent in trying out new ideas or unfamiliar practices... Conversely, in problem-hiding environments, teachers hide their problems and then hide the fact that they are hiding their problems. "Everything's fine" becomes the standard response to administrative or colleagial inquiry about classroom activity.

(p. 36)

5) The school "rewards teachers for growth, risk taking and change rather than only for successful past practice."

(p. 37)

These five factors tend to reinforce one another. Thus, a school which is problem-solving is likely to reward teachers for risk taking; likewise, a school with a well-defined sense of purpose tends to promote collegiality. Together, they contribute to the creation of an environment which promotes professionalization.

As studies such as the one by McLaughlin and Yee accumulate, educational reformers have focused more and more on that intangible but altogether critical factor, the "culture" of a school (Sarason, 1971). Why do some schools seem to exude a sense of harmony and colleagiability, while others appear to be bogged down in apathy or conflict? Why do some schools foster teacher autonomy while others, with equally competent teachers, render them powerless? Why do some schools easily accommodate themselves to innovation and experimentation, while others appear impervious to change of any sort? After years of trying to account for the differences by enumerating discrete factors which would serve as "independent variables," researchers have begun to take a more holistic, anthropological look at schools (Erickson, 1986). They argue that many elements combine to create that unique configuration of shared beliefs and practices which is a school's culture. This culture serves as a filter for all attempts at innovation (Cooper, 1988).

The challenge facing the advocates of professionalization through greater autonomy is that this cultural "screen" makes it difficult to isolate the ingredients which are key to transforming a hierarchical and bureaucratic staff structure into what Roland Barth calls "a community of leaders" (1988). Throughout the United States, a number of experiments have been undertaken whose purpose is to grant teachers more autonomy, either as individuals, or on a school-wide basis. Concurrently, the experiments are being studied, in an effort to glean some insights into the common characteristics of those programs which are most successful (Lieberman, 1988, chpts. 8-10). As these experiments progress, we will obtain a better picture of both the conditions and benefits of expanded authority for teachers.

1.3 The Prospects for Professionalizing Teachers

If the term "professional" is to function as more than a fancy synonym for "respected," its use must be predicated on two assumptions: First, that the teacher's skill derives from a special branch of knowledge, knowledge which can be codified, transmitted, and used as a yardstick for evaluation. Second, teachers must be granted a certain degree of control over their working environments.

Though these two hallmarks of professionalism—legitimacy and autonomy—have been discussed independently, it is clear that they are closely related. Legitimacy serves as the justification for autonomy: the members of a profession are granted control over their practice on the assumption that they, having sole possession of the special knowledge in their field, would know best how their practice should be conducted. Autonomy, in turn, allows professionals to establish standards of legitimacy. A true profession should be self-regulating, with requirements for membership and methods of evaluation set by the members themselves.

This is, in essence, the bargain that all professionals make with society: for occupations that require discretion and judgment in meeting the unique needs of clients, the profession guarantees the competence of members in exchange for the privilege of professional control and standards of practice.

[Darling-Hammond, 1988, p. 59]

Does teaching meet the two criteria of professionalism? In light of the literature reviewed above, it would be hard to offer an unequivocal answer to this question. Clearly good teachers know something about teaching (over and above their knowledge of the subject matter) that ordinary people usually don't know. But just what it is that teachers know is difficult, at the present time, to articulate. Sykes' assessment of the situation in 1983 still holds true today:

Despite the assertions of some teacher educators, we do not yet possess the knowledge on which to stake a claim to professional status in teaching. . . . The leads research is providing can help strengthen the curriculum for teacher preparation, but cannot fully define it nor significantly reduce the endemic uncertainties of practice nor the reliance on ordinary knowledge and the use of personality as a primary source in teaching. [Sykes, 1983a, p. 582]

Teachers could probably never be fully autonomous, because their students come involuntarily, and because many of the structural features of the school are mandated from above. On the other hand, teachers might certainly be granted much greater autonomy, either collectively, through the governance of the school, or individually, by the creation of special leadership positions. Any attempt to grant greater autonomy to teachers will face a number of obstacles. Many principals would certainly prefer to maintain a tight control over the school, rather than sharing their power with others; school boards, as well, may be resistant to the notion that teachers be allowed to make policy decisions.

A second barrier to granting any profession autonomy is related to the quality of people the profession attracts. Public school teaching does attract a portion (approximately 7%) of the most able college graduates in the United States. However, the sheer size of the teaching force and the relative ease of entry into the field, make teaching attractive to a very high proportion (38%) of the least able as well (Lanier and Little, 1986, pp. 539-540). In previous decades women often chose teaching because they were barred, or at least discouraged, from entering more lucrative and more highly regarded professions. Today, the situation is quite different.

The women's movement and the drive for equal rights coupled with economic pressures on women to work are changing all this.... In the future the best and the brightest women are likely to join their male counterparts in such fields as business, law, medicine, research and government, with teaching a significant loser in the competition for talent. [Sykes, 1983b, p. 113] In theory the legitimacy of a profession should have nothing to do with the characteristics of the people it attracts; in practice, however, perceptions of the teaching profession, and the extent to which the public is willing to grant teachers greater autonomy are greatly influenced by the qualities of its members (Kerr, 1983a; Metzger and Fox, 1986).

Those who are concerned with upgrading the teaching profession are caught in a vicious cycle. Low status, low salaries, and a lack of autonomy make the field unattractive to potential candidates; at the same time, the mediocrity of its practitioners make it harder to argue for greater autonomy, higher status, and, perhaps most importantly, considerably higher pay. Some scholars, perceiving these obstacles to be insurmountable, refer to teaching as a quasi-profession (Spencer, 1986, pp. 3-5). Many others have called for the restructuring of the entire field, as a way of achieving the ideal of professionalization, within the confines of economic and social realities.

Three influential groups of stakeholders, the Carnegie Commission on Education, the Holmes Group (a consortium of deans of education from the major research universities), and the American Federation of Teachers, have argued that the notoriously flat career pattern of public school teachers should be replaced by a pyramidal structure which they term "differentiated staffing." At the base of the pyramid would be a large number of entry level teachers, who would make only a short-term (three to five year) commitment to teaching. These individuals would have relatively little training and be granted relatively little autonomy. Many from this group might decide to leave teaching after their initial period of commitment ended. Some, however, might decide to pursue teaching as a profession, and would begin a program of more intensive training. As these individuals became more knowledgeable and more skilled, their authority would increase, along with their salaries. At the top of the pyramid would be a small cadre of those teachers able to pass the rigorous requirements for becoming mentor teachers, curriculum specialists, and other positions of increased responsibility (Sedlak, 1987). Though the concept of differentiated staffing has been criticized by some as either misguided or unrealistic (see essays in response to Sedlak, 1987), some school districts have embraced this notion of reconfiguration as one of the only ways out of the current conundrum (Urbanski, 1988). I believe that the concept of differentiated staffing holds great promise for Jewish schools as well, as we shall see in Section 4. First, however, I will deal with the issue of the difference between Jewish and secular schools, and the extent to which legitimacy and autonomy are characteristic of Jewish teaching.

Legitimacy and Autonomy in Jewish Teaching

Writing about the problems of Jewish teachers (or, more precisely, teachers of Judaica in Jewish schools), many have followed the lead of scholars in secular education, advocating a variety of mechanisms aimed at establishing teacher legitimacy, and, to a lesser extent, granting teachers greater autonomy (Schiff, 1987 and 1989; Woocher, 1987; Ratner and Reich, 1988). Several central agencies of Jewish education have instituted some of these mechanisms, such as career ladders and new training opportunities, and have been encouraged by the outcome (JESNA, 1984).

It would be a mistake, however, to assume that all the innovations of public education can or should be transferred, in wholesale fashion, to Jewish education. Although Jewish schools resemble their public counterparts in some respects, there are a number of important differences between the two sectors. In this section I will discuss the differences that are most relevant to the issue of legitimacy and autonomy in teaching.

Many structural similarities exist between Jewish and public schools. Their physical plants tend to resemble each other rather closely, as do their organizational patterns. (Most) Jewish schools have followed (most) public schools in having age-graded classes, taught by individual teachers. Teachers are supervised by a principal, and may be assisted by a number of specialists, such as a librarian, music teacher, school psychologist, etc. If one were to look inside both types of classrooms at the materials, modalities and techniques teachers employ, one would find many additional resemblances. Nonetheless, Jewish and secular education are different in significant ways:

2.1 Voluntarism

Jewish schooling in the United States is an entirely voluntary, privately funded enterprise. With the exception of secular subjects in day schools, Jewish schools are not subject to governmental regulation with respect to their educational program. Despite the existence of various associations (e.g., Solomon Shechter and Torah U'Mesorah), individual Jewish schools operate independently of one another.

Jewish schools are typically governed by a group of individuals who serve as the school or synagogue board. The degree to which these individuals represent the school's multiple constituencies varies. While members of these governing bodies may be elected to their position, these elections are mostly pro forma; inclusion in school governance tends to be based on the members' interest, expertise, personal connections, and status in the community.

Within the rather loose governance structure of most Jewish schools principals have a good deal of autonomy, and work under far fewer restrictions and regulations than their counterparts in public education. They could, theoretically, grant comparable autonomy to their teachers, and to some extent they do. A recent study of Judaica teachers in Los Angeles (Aron and Phillips, 1990) found that most teachers have a good deal of latitude in setting the curriculum (Table 2A), though little or not role in establishing school policy (Table 2B).

2.2 Unclear Lines of Communal Authority and Responsibility

Given the voluntaristic nature of Jewish education, it is not surprising that Jewish education in the United States is a "system" in only a loose and ephemeral sense. Change in public education can be mandated by the local school board or a state legislature, which is legally responsible for the school system. In contrast, Jewish schools are not subject to any authority higher than that of their sponsoring synagogue or governing body. Those who seek change in Jewish education have no recourse to coercive measures; they must rely on either persuasion or financial incentives. Given that the American Jewish community is smaller, more homogeneous, and (at least among active members) more interdependent than the nation as a whole, persuasion and financial incentives have a much better chance of success than they might have in the public arena. Nonetheless, even if the aims of reform were similar, the process by which these aims could be achieved would be very different in Jewish, rather than public, education.

If, for example, a central agency for Jewish education were to attempt to establish a career ladder for teachers, it would not only have to provide the money for higher salaries; it would have to persuade individual schools that increased responsibility for one or more of their teachers would be a good idea; it would have to develop guidelines for the selection and evaluation of those on the higher rungs; and it would have to continually urge schools to adhere to these guidelines.

The absence of systemic responsibility and accountability has important implications for teacher standards and salaries. Both the National Board of License and a number of local Bureaus offer credentials to teachers; some central agencies publish salary scales, which link credentialing to earning power. While little systematic data has been collected on the effects of credentialing, interviews with knowledgeable BJE personnel directors reveal a number of problems: First, only a small percentage of teachers in Jewish schools meet the standards of the National Board of License. The standards

Table 2A

LEVEL OF CURRICULAR GUIDANCE GIVEN TO LOS ANGELES TEACHERS, % IN EACH CATEGORY, BY TYPE OF SCHOOL

	Day School (N=230)	Supplementary School (N=461)
Given Curriculum w/Lesson Plans	6	15
Given Curriculum w/out Lesson Plans	43	39
Given Textbook Only	15	19
Guidance from Principal Only	15	19
Given None of the Above	16	10
Didn't Answer Question	8	5
Total	101%	101%

Table 2B

LEVEL OF INPUT INTO SCHOOL POLICY OF LOS ANGELES TEACHERS, % IN EACH SCHOOL, BY TYPE OF SCHOOL

	Day School (N = 230)	Supplementary School $(N = 461)$
"A lot of input"	14	12
"Some input"	42	38
"Little or no input"	39	48
Didn't answer question	4	2
Total	99%	100%

Source: Aron & Phillips, 1990 By Teacher Slot (N = 691) Totals of 99 or 101% are due to rounding. of local BJEs are considerably lower; in some cases, the lowest rungs of these credentialing systems require little training in either Judaica or education. Second, it is not at all clear to what extent salary scales are followed by schools. Los Angeles, which links adherence to the salary scale to the receipt of funds from the BJE, is probably in the best position to enforce the scale. Even in Los Angeles, however, one hears a good deal of talk among principals about ways they have found to pay their teachers either more or less than the scale would require.

2.3 The Part-Time Nature of Jewish Teaching

The teaching of Judaica is, even in a day school, often a part-time occupation. In Los Angeles, the average number of hours available in each day school teaching slot is 20.5 hours per week (Aron and Phillips, 1990); in Miami it is 22.3 hours per week (Sheskin, 1988). Only 58% of the day school teachers in Los Angeles teach over 16 hours/week; in Miami, only 43% teach more than 20 hours.

Teachers in supplementary schools teach far fewer hours per school, an average of 5.2 hours in Los Angeles, and 4.8 hours in Miami. Tables 2C and 2D give the breakdown, by setting, of the hours teachers teach in Los Angeles, Miami and Pittsburgh.

If the teaching of Judaica in a Jewish school is, for so many, a part-time occupation, can it still be considered a profession? In theory the number of hours a professional works should make no difference, if s/he has legitimacy and is granted autonomy. In practice, however, the part-time nature of Jewish teaching sets off a kind of chain reaction, influencing recruitment, training and retention, and undercutting professionalism at every turn: A part-time teacher can only earn a part-time salary; low salaries in a field translate, in most people's minds, to low status. How many talented young people can afford (either financially or in terms of their self-image) to view part-time work as an ultimate career choice? How many, given a projection of their future earning potential, would be willing to undergo rigorous training? Once in the job, how many can afford to stay for the long term? Several decades ago, part-time teaching in a Jewish school was seen by some women as a promising avenue for professional development, which fit well with their desire to be primary care-givers to their children. They were willing to enroll in a teacher training program of several years duration, despite the fact (actually, because of the fact) that most teaching positions were part-time. Today, the opening of a much broader spectrum of career opportunities for women, and the economic pressures on middle class families make part-time teaching much less desirable.

Ta	ble	2C	

	Los Angeles	Miami	Pittsburgh
1-4	38.8	56.3	67
5-9	30.6	32.3	23
10-14	20.2	3.6	8
15-19	3.3	-	-
20-24	2.7	1.8	2
25-29	1.1	-	-
30-34	.9	.6	-
35-39	1.3		-
40+	1.1	5.4	-
Total	100%	100%	100%

HOURS TAUGHT (% IN EACH CATEGORY), IN SUPPLEMENTARY SCHOOL

Table 2D

	Los Angeles	Miami	Pittsburgh
1-4	2.7	1	3
5-9	6.6	6.5	23
10-14	11.5	6.5	5
15-19	17.3	10.9	-
20-24	16.8	16.3	52
25-29	7.5	5.4	-
30-34	15.0	7.5	42
35-39	13.3	15.2	_
40+	9.3	30.4	7
Total	100%	100%	100%

HOURS TAUGHT (% IN EACH CATEGORY), IN DAY SCHOOL

Sources: Los Angeles: Aron and Phillips, 1990; Miami: Sheskin, 1988; Pittsburgh: United Jewish Federation of Greater Pittsburgh, 1986 Viewed in this light, the chronic shortage of teachers of Judaica in the United States, a shortage which has persisted for over half-a-century (Shevitz, 1988; Aron and Bank, 1987), is perfectly understandable. Unfortunately, the persistence of a teacher shortage serves as another barrier to professionalism: if people who are only minimally qualified can find jobs so easily, why bother to enroll in a teacher training program?

Any effort to improve the professional standing of Jewish teachers must begin with the problem of the overwhelming part- time nature of the task as it is currently configured. One promising solution is the creation, by an external agency such as a Bureau or Federation, of a number of full-time slots for "community teachers." This model has been used successfully in Omaha for nearly a decade (Rosenbaum, 1983), and is currently being attempted in Cleveland, Des Moines and Boston. To create the position of community teacher, the central agency acts as a broker between a number of schools, typically a day school and one or two supplementary schools. The result is a full-time position which includes some combination of teaching, lesson planning, mentoring and curriculum development. The income which the teacher would earn from each of the individual schools is supplemented by the agency, so that an attractive salary and benefits package can be offered. In Omaha the position of community teacher carries with it a number of other "perks," such as free membership in the Jewish Community Center. The creation of these full-time positions has enabled the Jewish community of Omaha to attract outstanding teachers from around the country; the arrival of each new teacher is greeted by the community with considerable fanfare, comparable to the arrival of other new Jewish professionals.

The community teacher concept is so simple and appealing that one wonders why it hasn't been implemented in many more Jewish communities. Interviews with a number of people who have been involved in the implementation of this model (including several key figures in one community which failed to come to agreement on the terms for a community teacher) provide an answer to this question. Because individual Jewish schools have so much autonomy, and because larger communal structures have so little authority over them, some schools are resistant to "sharing" a teacher with other schools, and unwilling to compromise when scheduling conflicts arise. The success or failure of the model seems to depend upon the negotiating skills of the person responsible for its implementation and the personalities of the participating education directors. Nonetheless, the prospects for the creation of a growing number of community teacher positions throughout the country seems promising. Another idea which is closely related to that of the community teacher is that of the hybrid teaching position, in which part-time work as a Jewish teacher is combined with part-time work as a social worker, librarian, communal worker, etc. This idea has been tried, with great success in public schools in Arizona, where science teachers are given summer jobs in various industries as a way of supplementing their income (Babbit, 1986). Though this solution would require the teacher to develop expertise in a related field, it is certainly an avenue worthy of exploration.

Would it be possible to radically re-configure Jewish education in the United States, so that all teaching positions would carry with them full-time salaries and benefits? At the present moment we do not have sufficient information to answer this critically important question. Research on the economics of Jewish education, and some modeling of coordinated staffing arrangements for communities of various sizes would be required before an informed deliberation on this issue could take place.

2.4 Establishing the Professional Legitimacy of Jewish Teaching

As mentioned at the end of Section 1, one of the unresolved questions in secular education is the extent to which skill in teaching is derived from a special theoretical domain, and the extent to which mastery of this domain is what distinguishes good teachers from bad ones. As complicated as this issue is in secular education, it is more so in Jewish education. With the exception of two doctoral dissertations currently in process (Chervin, n.d.; Schoenberg, 1987), no research has been conducted in the areas of Jewish pedagogic content knowledge. Moreover, there is every reason to expect that the assessment of a teacher's Jewish pedagogic content knowledge would be considerably more difficult than the assessment of secular pedagogic content knowledge, since Judaic subject matters are replete with questions of values, ideology and faith. It would be inconceivable, for example, that a good Bible teacher would not have grappled with a myriad of issues concerning the origins and veracity of the text, and how bound by its commandments s/he should feel. Whereas a good mathematics teacher would probably have to have faith that mathematics is a necessary intellectual tool, this type of faith pales in comparison to that required of a teacher of Bible or liturgy. Steven Chervin, one of the first to undertake research in this area, notes:

When multiple levels of understanding are intrinsic to the subject matter, as in the case of Torah, the teacher's active process of comprehension becomes an even more salient feature of teaching.

[Chervin, n.d., p. 8]

However, Chervin continues, "teacher knowledge research has only begun to explore teacher beliefs."

As noted in Section 1, reformers who hope to establish the professional legitimacy of teachers in secular education look to research on teacher knowledge as a means of assessing this legitimacy. Shulman and his colleagues, whose research has been generously funded by the Carnegie Corporation and others, see the development of a National Teacher Exam in the not-too-distant future. In light of both the complexity of the issues and the paucity of research in this area, the prospects for a Jewish Teacher Exam seem considerably more prolonged. Certainly some items on the secular examination, i.e., those dealing with pedagogical issues in the abstract, might be incorporated into a comparable Jewish exam. But, to the extent that the most sophisticated assessments of a teacher's skills concern pedagogy applied to subject matter (a claim

made by Shulman and his colleagues), a good deal of work remains before a Jewish Teacher Exam can be created.

Without a method for assessing teacher knowledge, the legitimacy of teachers will have to rest on purely formalistic criteria, such as a degree from an accredited program of teacher education or the number of college or graduate courses taken in both pedagogy and Judaica. Results of teacher surveys vary widely in this regard (see Tables 2E and 2F). Research currently being conducted by Aryeh Davidson indicates that relatively few students are enrolled in teacher-training programs for Jewish teachers, and that some of the graduates of these programs bypass teaching in favor of more lucrative administrative jobs (Davidson, 1990).

Most schools and central agencies sponsor various forms of *in-service* training. Too often, however, these training opportunities are in the form of one-shot, non-accumulating workshops (Flexner, 1989). One recent innovation in secular education may be particularly relevant in this regard – the growth, in a number of states, of programs providing alternative paths to certification, through summer programs or a carefully monitored in-service sequence of courses (Cooperman and Klagholtz, 1985). This would be an important model to explore.

Table 2E

PERCENTAGE OF COLLEGE LEVEL JUDAICA COURSES TAKEN BY TEACHERS IN THREE CITIES

	None	1-3	3-7	7+	Total
Los Angeles Day School	26	8	11	55	100%
Los Angeles Supplementary School	30	20	14	36	100%
	None	1-4	5-9	Major or Degree From Jewish College	Total
Miami Day School	11	16	4	69	100%
Miami Supplementary School	45	17	11	27	100%

	Holds Jewish Educational License	Holds Degree in Jewish Studies
Philadelphia Day School	57%	73%
Philadelphia Supplementary School	33%	34%

Sources: Los Angeles: Aron and Phillips, 1990; Miami: Sheskin, 1988; Philadelphia: Federation of Jewish Agencies of Greater Philadelphia, 1989.

Га	ble	2F

	Hebrew	Education
0	43	29
1-3	17	14
3-7	14	11
Over 7	26	47
Total	100%	101%

NUMBER OF COLLEGE-LEVEL COURSES (% IN EACH CATEGORY) IN HEBREW AND EDUCATION TAKEN BY LOS ANGELES TEACHERS

N = 649 Totals of 99% or 101% are due to rounding. Source: Aron and Phillips, 1990. -

Commitment as a Criterion of Professionalism

The term "professional" derives from the verb "profess," which, originally, meant the espousal or confession of a religious belief or conviction. Though the context for most "callings" has changed from religious to secular, the essence of this original meaning resides in the third criterion of professionalism – commitment. Beyond expertise and authority, what we expect from a professional is devotion, altruism, and service.

In medieval and early modern times, the professional dealt in a kind of knowledge and dedication that were not for sale at any price. The three vows of the religious order — poverty, obedience and chastity—were the extreme embodiment of the ideal, but physician, lawyer, soldier or statesman were supposed to live according to the same essential code. To be professional meant: 1) readiness to live in poverty, 2) obedience to the life and goodwill of the community, and 3) availability for what has to be done, when it has to be done.

[Moran, 1988, p. 202]

My own reading of the literature on professionalism leads me to the conclusion that the importance attributed to this third criterion has receded over time. Whereas in 1915 Abraham Flexner (author of the report that revolutionized medical education) spoke of "unselfish devotion" as criterion which overrode all others (cited in Becker, 1962), more recent essays on the subject have either reduced this "service orientation" to one criterion among several (Moore, 1970) or left it out entirely (Kimball, 1988).

In teaching, as well, the issue of commitment has received much less attention than those of legitimacy and autonomy. In seeking parity with other professions, educational researchers and reformers have focused on the areas in which teaching seems at a disadvantage, namely legitimacy and autonomy. The result has been an overemphasis of the intellectual and an underemphasis of the moral and social dimensions of teaching (Jackson, 1986; Sykes, 1989). It is as though some scholars have forgotten, at least temporarily, that good teachers "are shapers not only of their students' knowledge, but also of their students' lives" (Martin, 1987, p. 408).

Dwayne Huebner (1988) uses the term "vocation" as an overarching metaphor for this aspect of teaching.

The Latin root of *vocation* refers to a call or summons.... To have the vocation of teacher is to permit oneself to be called by children and young people.... [It] is to participate intentionally in the unfolding, or perhaps collapse, of this social world.

[pp. 17-21]

Different teachers are "called" to teaching for different reasons. For some, it is a desire to work with children, to nurture and care for developing minds and hearts. For others, the continuation of a community or a tradition is the ultimate goal; they teach in order to bring a new generation "into the fold." In religious education, one finds a third group of teachers, "called" to teach in the sense implied by the original meaning of the term profession — by strong religious feelings.

Each of these motivations suggests a different characteristic of the ideal teacher: First, the teacher should be a caring person. Second, the teacher should be an integral member of the community into which the student is being brought. Third, the teacher should be a spiritual role model.

3.1 The Teacher as a Caring Person

Given that the extrinsic rewards of teaching are rather limited, it is not surprising to find that most teachers focus on its intrinsic rewards instead. High on the list of intrinsic rewards is the teacher's perception of having "reached" students, of having made a difference in their lives (Feinman-Nemser and Floden, 1986, p. 510). The following excerpt from the letter of an experienced teacher to her former student exemplifies this feeling:

Ultimately, teaching is nurturing. The teacher enters a giving relationship with strangers, and then the teacher's needs must give way to the students' needs.... My days are spent encouraging young people's growth.

[Metzger and Fox, 1986, p. 352]

Some teachers are outstanding in their ability to care about students in a special way, to relate to their students as people, not just as learners. In her book, *Caring: A Feminine Approach to Ethics and Moral Education*, Nel Noddings describes this quality:

When a teacher asks a question in class and a student responds, she receives not just the "response" but the student. What he says matters, whether it is right or wrong, and she probes gently for clarification, interpretation, contribution. She is not seeking the answer but the involvement of the cared-for. For the brief interval of dialogue that grows around the question, the cared-for indeed "fills the firmament." The student is infinitely more important than the subject matter.

[Noddings, 1984, p. 176]

The phrase "fills the firmament" is borrowed from Martin Buber, and echoes Buber's concern with relationships in which there is genuine encounter and dialogue, relationships in which people meet one another as "Thou"s, rather than "It"s.

Noddings argues that the over-riding and over-arching purpose of all schools ought to be the developing in young people of the ability to care for each other, and for the world around them. "Teaching is a constitutively ethical activity. It is a 'moral type of friendship' in which teachers and students work together to achieve common ends (Noddings, 1986, p. 505." This is not to say that the learning of subject matter is not important but that subject matter must be taught in such a way that enhances, rather than diminishes, care.

Is it possible for a teacher to care for an entire class of students? How can a teacher meet all these students as "Thou"s, rather than "It"s? Noddings' reply is that it is, of course, impossible to care for every student every minute, but that this type of caring is neither necessary nor appropriate. A large part of the student's day is rightfully taken up by his or her interaction with materials or with other students. When the student does interact with the teacher, however, that encounter must be characterized by caring:

[The teacher must] be totally and nonselectively present to the student – to each student – as he addresses me. The time interval may be brief but the encounter is total. [Noddings, 1984, p. 180]

If we value caring as a quality, and if it is important to us that teachers be caring individuals, at least three things must happen. First, we must begin talking about caring a great deal more than we have. We must state quite explicitly that caring for children is one of the most important qualifications for a teacher to have. We must validate the superior social commitment of teachers in general, as well as individual instances of caring in teaching. Second, we must take a close look at how schools are structured, and the ways in which these structures promote or inhibit caring (Aron, 1982). Is there time in the schedule for teachers to interact with students more informally? Is it feasible for a teacher to stay with a group of students for more than one year? Third, and most important, we must care for and about teachers. School boards, principals, parents and members of the community at large must extend themselves to teachers, to encounter them in the way we would like them to encounter students.

3.2 The Teacher as an Integral Member of a Community

The ideal environment for the education of children would be a homogeneous and well-integrated society, a society in which family, school, and a web of civic and religious organizations were interwoven, each reinforcing the values and norms of the other. Historians and anthropologists have spent a great deal of time debating whether or not such harmonious societies have ever existed, in another time or place. Clearly, however, few communities of this sort have survived industrialization, modernization, and the other forces that have shaped contemporary American life. In our own time, the institutions most naturally suited to education are embattled. Social mobility has all but eliminated the extended family. The high rate of divorce, along with the entry of an unprecedented number of women into the workforce, have sapped the strength of the nuclear family. Social and religious organizations of all kinds face stiff competition from both work and leisure-time activities. With the advent of mass media and mass marketing, America as a whole has become more homogeneous than ever before; but this surface homogeneity has come at the expense of the integrity and vitality of local communities.

Against this background, many of the innovations in public schools over the past three or four decades can be seen as attempts to have the school assume functions which were traditionally fulfilled by the family, church, or other local organizations. Head Start, drivers' education, moral education and sex education are but some of the programs introduced into schools in an effort to compensate for the waning influence of other institutions. - A

9

H

Thus, the school, whose original mandate was limited to formal instruction, has increasingly been asked to take on a larger, less formal, and more elusive educational function, which might be called enculturation (Westerhoff, 1976). However, the typical school, which is organized according to age-graded and self- contained classrooms and adheres to a subject-oriented curriculum, may not be the appropriate vehicle for teaching students values and attitudes in more than a superficial way (Aron, 1987, 1989). With the exception of a small number of exemplary programs, schools have not been particularly successful at enculturating students (Debenham and Parsons, 1978).

The expectation that the school will somehow cure societal ills has filtered into the Jewish community as well, where education is seen as "the key to Jewish survival." Indeed, the need to have Jewish schools perform functions which relate more closely to enculturation than to instruction is even more urgent in the Jewish community. From the outset, Jews in America were deeply ambivalent about the extent to which they wished to identify as Jews, and practice the rituals and traditions of "the old country" (Liebman, 1973). The immigrant generation had the luxury of choosing if and when to activate rituals and customs which lay dormant within them. Succeeding generations, not having been steeped in these traditions from childhood, have had fewer resources to draw upon. To make matters worse, social mobility has largely eliminated the ancillary agents of Jewish enculturation, the extended family and the Jewish neighborhood.

The children currently enrolled in Jewish schools, who are predominantly fourth and fifth generation Americans, receive little Jewish enculturation at home. In a recent study of supplementary school students conducted by the Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York (1988) only 18% of the respondents indicated that either they or their parents attend synagogue services regularly on Shabbat and holidays. Sixteen percent of the students light Shabbat candles "every Friday evening;" an additional 45% doing so "occasionally" (p. 93). While one might expect students enrolled in day schools to come from homes with a richer Jewish environment, the impressionistic

data collected by many educators suggests that this is not always the case, especially in non-Orthodox day schools (Cohen, 1982, p. 24).

If Jewish education has any chance for success, we must consider very seriously the differences between instruction and enculturation. We must acknowledge that instruction in a subject matter (be it mathematics and literature or Hebrew and Bible) is predicated on some prior enculturation, which provides both the motivation for learning, and opportunities for its consolidation. Students in public schools, for example, have daily opportunities to see adults reading, adding and subtracting; in addition, even the youngest have some conception that success in school is connected to success in adult life. In contrast, Jewish students rarely see adults praying, speaking Hebrew, or reading the Bible; nor is competence in these areas linked to future success in the secular world.

If Jewish education is to be taken seriously, if the survival for which it is the supposed key is to be cultural and spiritual, rather than merely demographic, Jewish schools must be re-structured and reconfigured to become agents of enculturation. They must become places which model for young people what it means to be Jewish. In short, they must become communities.

What would it take to turn the Jewish school into a community, to change its orientation from instruction to enculturation? Elsewhere I have outlined five steps which such a transformation would require (Aron, 1987, 1989), including the involvement of parents at all levels of the school's operation and the inclusion of many more opportunities for informal learning. Of these five, the most important to us in this context is that a school which wants to be the core of a community must have teachers who are deeply involved in that community.

3.3 The Teacher as a Religious Role Model

It would be difficult to find anyone who would argue that teachers in Jewish schools ought not to be religious role models. But what do we mean by religious? And what is a role model? These are questions which must be answered before we can discuss how important it is that our teachers have this quality, and how this quality can best be supported in the school.

Contemporary writers on religion have pointed out that the phenomena which most people call "religious" are so varied as to elude straightforward, stipulative definition (see Rosenak, 1987, chapter 5). They offer, in place of a definition, a view of religion as the confluence of a number of "religion-making characteristics"; any particular religion would have some, but not necessary all, of these characteristics. Clive Beck offers this type of definition, but focuses on the religious person, rather than the religious tradition. A religious person, according to Beck, is one who "typically": a) has a system of supernatural beliefs
b) engages in rituals and other practices related to those beliefs
c) is associated with a tradition of such belief and practice
d) participates in a community committed to this tradition
e) derives from the tradition a world view, and

f) a relatively complete way of life.

[Beck, 1986]

The virtue of this definition is that it accommodates the variety of ways in which people can be said to be religious. One person, for example, may not believe in God, but may still practice the rituals associated with a certain religious tradition. A second person might believe in God, but might practice the rituals of several religious traditions, and might not participate in any community committed to any of these traditions; by Beck's definition both of these individuals would be considered religious. Of course, not all of these ways of being religious will be acceptable to all Jews, a point to which I will return, after a discussion of religious role models.

"Role model" is a sociological term, which has rapidly become part of everyday vocabulary, because it points to a factor in contemporary life which had no parallel in more traditional societies. In the hypothetical homogeneous society alluded to in the previous section, children would form their notions of what makes a successful adult from observing their relatives and neighbors. In such a society the number of potential "roles" to which one could aspire would be quite limited; the roles assumed by one generation would probably be attractive to the next. Changes in contemporary society, however, have eroded the viability of certain traditional roles, such as housewife and shopkeeper, and contributed to the creation of new roles, such as working mother and manager. A young person growing up today faces a confusing array of possible futures – some traditional, some current, some which are as yet unknown. In this context, the child's potential role models go far beyond family and neighbors to include authorities and public figures of all sorts.

In contemporary Jewish life, the role of the teacher is critical, because teachers, along with rabbis, youth group leaders and camp counselors, are often the only Jewish role models available. Demographers have found that a large majority of American Jews engage in relatively few specifically Jewish activities. While roughly 75% of American Jews celebrate Hanukkah, Passover, and the High Holidays in some fashion (Cohen, 1985), and while as many as 85% affiliate with some Jewish organization at some point in their lives (Feldstein and Shrage, 1987, p. 98), a much smaller percentage live a life that might be considered religious, by any of Beck's criteria (Cohen, 1988).

If Jewish education for the children of the marginally affiliated is to be anything other than an exercise in futility and hypocrisy, Jewish teachers must serve as models for how one can lead an involved and attractive Jewish life.

In the words of Jonathan Omer-Man,

A religious person today is a person who has made certain choices; and a teacher of religion is a person who has made certain choices and whose task is to educate young people who face an even wider range of choices.... [T]he student has to be taught to make certain profound existential choices as an individual, and to live with these decisions in circumstances that are not always easy. In order to do this, the teacher has to present himself as a role model, as a person who has made such choices, and with whom the student can identify.

[Omer-Man, 1982, p. 22]

It is important to note that not all of the role models for living a full and committed Jewish life need be religious. Some may be more oriented towards the cultural, ethnic, or secular Zionist aspects of Jewish life. However, since most Jewish schools are synagogue-based, and even those that are independent include religious subjects in their curriculum, one would expect a large number of teachers to serve as religious role models.

What kind of religious role models do we expect Jewish teachers to be? Do we expect them to believe in God? To observe a minimum set of rituals? To have a particular worldview? These questions cannot be answered without reference to the particular school. Some schools, especially those affiliated with the Orthodox movement, may expect their teachers to adhere closely to a set of beliefs and a code of practices. Others of a more liberal persuasion may allow, and even value, a plurality of belief and practice, hoping to model for their students a variety of ways of being a committed religious Jew. All schools ought to at least consider these questions seriously, and attempt to articulate the types of religious commitment they will expect from their teachers. And all ought to think seriously about the way in which the structure and policies of the school promote or inhibit the teacher's religiosity.

3.4 Balancing Commitment with Legitimacy and Autonomy

Truly exemplary teachers, the teachers imprinted in our memories or featured in movies, exude a sense of professionalism which meets all three criteria-legitimacy, autonomy, and commitment. Like Jaime Escalante, the hero of the movie *Stand and Deliver*, they defy convention (and the expectations of their supervisors), using their evenings and vacations to demonstrate that, with the proper techniques, even disadvantaged students can excel in calculus. Like Eliot Wigginton, the originator of the Foxfire Project, their involvement with students and commitment to new methods knows no bounds (Wigginton, 1985). Like my children's Hebrew teacher, Amy Wallk, they are relentless in their search for the best textbook, the most involving game, the perfect class outing, and the cutest Hanukkah presents.

How reasonable is it to expect all teachers to be professional in this very full sense? Or, to ask the question differently, what factors prevent us from obtaining a teaching force which meets all three criteria? In Section 1, I considered some of the problems with establishing legitimacy and encouraging autonomy, including that of the vicious cycle, in which low salaries and the lack of professionalism among the current pool of teachers make the field as a whole undesirable to talented potential recruits. The criterion of commitment, discussed in this section, raises an additional issue: the possibility that the push for legitimacy an autonomy may actually undermine commitment.

Embedded in the criteria of legitimacy and autonomy are a set of values which are intellectual and indvidualistic; commitment, on the other hand, is based on a configuration of values centered on empathy and community. As the examples of the three outstanding teachers indicates, the ideal professional strikes a balance between these two sets of values. It is easy to see, however, that an over-emphasis on one set of values might lead to the neglect of the other. The profession of medicine, for example, has been accused of promoting autonomy at the expense of the social good, and scientific rigor at the expense of compassion.

At the heginning of this section, I cited a passage from Gabriel Moran (1989, p. 202) which enumerated three principles embedded in the original meaning of the term "professional": 1) taking on a life of poverty; 2) maintaining obedience to the community; and 3) being available at any time and at any place. Over time, Moran argues, the notion of the professional as one who has access to special knowledge grew in importance, to the point that it overshadowed, and even undermined, these principles.

To be a professional now came to mean: 1) the possibility of earning big money, 2) independence from any and every community, and 3) control of time, place and conditions for the exercise of one's highly specialized knowledge.

[p. 203]

It is time, writes Moran, to bring the pendulum back to center, to find a balance between legitimacy and autonomy, on the one hand, and commitment, on the other.

Thus, one can imagine a professional ideal in which: 1) The individual is able to support a family, but has chosen work worth doing over the biggest paycheck possible. 2) The individual is capable of acting like an entrepreneur but chooses to work in a community or team of peers. 3) The individual's technical skills are highly trained, but are set within an attitude of reverence for living things and a recognition of human finitude.

[p. 204]

This is the professional idea towards which we ought to aspire. The extent to which such a balance can be achieved in the field of Jewish teaching will be the topic of the fourth, and final section of this paper.

Section 4

The Prospects for Professionalizing Jewish Teachers

Let us imagine that our goal is the professionalization of the entire Jewish teaching force. Is this goal attainable? If so, at what cost? If not, what goals are more realistic? And what steps ought the Jewish community to be taking to encourage this professionalization?

Three sets of obstacles stand in the way of professionalizing the entire force of Jewish teachers: The first set concerns the inherent limitations of teaching with regard to the criteria of professionalism discussed in this paper. The second set of obstacles derives from certain sociological realities; it includes all those factors which make teaching in general undesirable to potential recruits. The third set of obstacles is specific to Jewish education, encompassing the conditions that make the professionalization of Jewish teaching particularly difficult.

In this section I explore each set of obstacles in turn, summarizing the conclusions of the previous chapters, and adding new information, where relevant. In each case the discussion focuses on what it will take to overcome the obstacles in question. Because the obstacles are inter-related, the suggestions for research and experimentation offered in this section should be considered in concert. Any one, standing alone, can have only limited impact; taken together, they constitute a coordinated plan for upgrading the profession of Jewish teaching.

4.1 Translating the Criteria of Legitimacy and Autonomy into Practical Standards for the Teaching Profession

The discussion of legitimacy and autonomy in Section 1 revealed some of the problems which arise when these criteria are used as standards for improving teaching. To begin with, research on teacher knowledge in the secular field is fraught with controversies over methodology (Gage, 1989). Whether or not this research will yield reliable applications to both training and evaluation is still an open question. Moreover, only some of the research findings, those which deal with generic teaching skills in secular education, are directly transferable to Jewish education; identifying pedagogic content knowledge in subjects such as Hebrew, Bible, and Jewish history will require a good deal of new research. Despite these problems, accepted standards for both training and evaluation are a necessary step in both legitimizing a profession and differentiating between poor, competent, and excellent practitioners. If Jewish teaching is to become a profession, the Jewish community has no choice but to invest in both research and experimentation in this area. The methodologies for this research have been honed at a number of major research centers, notably the Teacher Assessment Project at Stanford University, and by the National Center for Research on Teacher Education, at Michigan State University. Key figures at each of these centers have been involved with Jewish education in a variety of ways; it would make sense for any future research on Jewish teaching knowledge and evaluation to be conducted in coordination with one or both of these centers.

Concurrent with this research, a way must be found to adapt the findings of both past and future studies to training and evaluation, on an experimental basis. One possibility might be the creation of a national committee on teacher training and evaluation, which would act as a clearinghouse for research and instigate experimental projects, together with the AIHLJE (Association of Institutions of Higher Learning in Jewish Education) and central agencies.

With regard to teacher autonomy, it seems unlikely that teachers can achieve the degree of autonomy of some other professionals; but, as I argued in Section 3.4, this type of individualistic autonomy may not be desirable. Though the degree of autonomy most appropriate for teachers at varying levels of legitimacy may be open to question, the fact that teachers who have demonstrated their legitimacy deserve a good deal more autonomy is not. Since autonomy is intimately connected with the culture of the particular school, it cannot be mandated from above. Nonetheless, policy makers at the local and national level can contribute to the creation of a climate in which autonomy is encouraged. Autonomy does not mean free reign, but rather the creation of a culture of shared leadership in schools. Clearly there is much work to be done analyzing and experimenting with various levels of teacher autonomy. And, of course, the granting of autonomy to teachers must be linked to the creation of sophisticated, reliable evaluation techniques, as discussed above.

Too often a teacher's commitment is simply taken for granted, as though it is too obvious to mention. My own belief (and the belief of many of the early readers of this paper) is that commitment ought to be regarded as a necessary requirement for all teachers of Judaica, regardless of their legitimacy. The commitment of a teacher cannot be easily measured, nor can it be imparted by training, in the narrow, technical sense. Nonetheless, the expectation of commitment ought to be openly stated. More importantly, the teacher's initial sense of commitment, which probably lead to his or her choice of teaching in the first place, can be nurtured in the course of training, at both the pre-service (see Feiman-Nemser, 1989) and in-service levels. The development of commitment – to the tradition, the community, and to the students – should be one of the goals of all training programs. As discussed in Section 3.3, different schools may be interested in different types of religious commitment; this kind of pluralism is to be encouraged.

4.2 Making Teaching Attractive as a Profession

The second set of obstacles to upgrading the teaching profession arises out of the historical conditions in which teaching has been mired. The American public has always viewed its teachers with a mixture of admiration and disdain, acceptance and suspicion (Waller, 1932/1967; Sykes, 1983b). Low teacher salaries over the years indicate that disdain probably outweighed the other sentiments. For years American schools were granted a "hidden subsidy" from women who accepted, because they had little choice, their low pay and low status. With the rise of teachers' unions in the 1960s and early '70s, salaries rose, and began to compare favorably with those of many other occupations. Salaries have not, however, kept pace with inflation (Feistritzer, 1983), and this has contributed to a further decline of the status of teachers. Teaching is regarded as a less desirable career option than ever before. Surveyed in a nation-wide Gallup Poll in 1969, 75% of the responding teachers said they would like to have a child take up teaching in a public school as a career; in 1972 the percentage fell to 67%, and, in 1980, to 48% (Sykes, 1983b, p. 111). The "first wave" of Commission reports (e.g., A Nation at Risk [National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983) did nothing to raise the status of teachers; if anything, it contributed to their denigration (McDonald, 1986, pp. 356-357). The "second wave" of reform, exemplified by Carnegie (1986) and Holmes (1986) Commission reports, has focused attention on teacher professionalism, teacher status, and teacher salaries. It is too soon to tell if the efforts of these groups will, over the long run, entice a higher caliber of recruits to the field.

Though teachers in Jewish schools are not subject to the political vagaries of public school reform, their status and self-image are inextricably intertwined with that of public school teachers. Since efforts are currently underway to raise the salaries and status of public school teachers, this would be an opportune moment for the Jewish community to swim with the tide, linking its own efforts at recruitment to those of the society at large.

Both status and recruitment are influenced by salaries. However, raising teacher salaries is not a simple matter, even if it is assumed that the money can be found to do so. Which salaries should be raised, those of entry-level teachers (as a recruitment device) or those teachers already in the system (as a retention device)? It stands to reason that salary increases for those currently teaching should be linked, in some way, to merit. However, the instruments currently available for assessing teachers are either too subjective or too limited (Shulman, 1988), and await the results of the research discussed above. Moreover, various merit pay schemes instituted on an experimental basis have been found to be problematic (Murname and Cohen, 1986; Bachrach and Conley, 1986; Johnson, 1984). Finally, there is the question of how large a salary increase would be required in order to make a significant difference in recruitment. One study found that it would take an annual salary increase of \$10,000 to make teaching more competitive with other jobs that require equivalent training, such as engineering and accounting (Feistritzer, 1983, p. 16). An assessment of various
mechanisms for upgrading teacher salaries is essential; such an assessment would require some complicated economic modeling and projections. Since fewer than a third of Jewish teaching slots carry medical, pension, and other benefits (Aron and Phillips, 1990), the issue of the Jewish community's obligation to provide benefits for its teachers should be considered concurrently. Providing higher salaries and benefits to teachers might well require the establishment of an educational endowment, at either a national or regional level.

Assuming that teachers' salaries could be increased significantly, an extensive, multifaceted recruitment campaign would have to be undertaken. This should include: a) the recruitment of college students to training institutions through the use of scholarships and other incentives, and their placement in viable settings upon graduation; b) the recruitment and training of part-time teachers, for whom teaching might be either an avocation or a secondary occupation (Aron, 1988; Davidson, 1990).

4.3 Considering the Possibilities of Differentiated Staffing

The final set of obstacles to the professionalization of Jewish teachers derives from the part-time nature of much of Jewish teaching (see Section 2.3). Because the number of part- time positions is large, relative to full-time positions, Jewish teaching attracts individuals with a wide range of backgrounds and aspirations. There are three ways in which a teacher might think of his or her work: a) as a career; b) as a way of supplementing his or her household's income, either temporarily (while waiting to get married or have children) or on an ongoing basis; and c) as an avocation, an activity engaged in purely for a sense of service or satisfaction. Though I know of no study that has asked public school teachers this question, one can imagine that a majority see teaching as a career. In Jewish education the situation is very different. A recent study in Los Angeles (Aron and Phillips, 1990) found that only 39% of the teachers fell into the "career teacher" category; another 36% saw teaching as a way of earning supplementary income; the remaining 25% saw teaching as an avocation. These differences among teachers were related, though not entirely, to the number of hours in which they taught, and to their other occupations, as can be seen in Tables 4A and 4B.

Understanding the diversity among Jewish teachers, with regard to their self-perception as well as their educational background (referring back to Tables 2E and 2F) makes one question whether full professionalization ought to be our ultimate goal. Given that over two-thirds of all Judaica teachers teach in supplementary schools (See Table 4C), and given that supplementary schools may require a different type of teaching than day schools (Aron, 1987 and 1989), it may be necessary to have some supplementary school teachers who do not have the legitimacy and autonomy that one might expect in a day school.

- .

Table 4A
HOW LOS ANGELES TEACHERS SEE TEACHING, BY NUMBER OF HOURS TAUGHT (% IN
EACH CATEGORY)

	"A Career" (N = 230)	"A Way of Earning Supplementary Incorne" (N = 203)	"Something I Do for the Satisfaction" (N = 142)	Total	
1-3 Hours 8 (N = 141)		47	45	100%	
4-9 Hours (N = 171)	21	47	32	100%	
10-20 Hours (N = 152)	56	34	10	101%	
21 + Hours 88 4 (N = 575)		4	8	100%	

Table 4B

HOW LOS ANGELES TEACHERS SEE TEACHING, BY OTHER OCCUPATIONS (% IN EACH CATEGORY)

	"As a Career" (N = 238)	"As a Way of Earning Supplementary Income" (N = 223)	"Something I Do for the Satisfaction" (N = 156)	Total	
Full-time in Jewish education (N = 181)	77	13	10	100%	
Homemaker (N=99)	40	32	27	100%	
Full-time student (N=65)	18	65	17	100%	
Other part-time employment (N = 149)	24	44	32	100%	
Other full-time employment (N = 123) 8		50	52	100%	

(N=617); Source: Los Angeles: Aron and Phillips, 1990. Totals of 99 or 101% are due to rounding.

Table 4C

PERCENTAGE OF TEACHERS TEACHING IN DAY VS. SUPPLEMENTARY SCHOOLS IN SELECTED CITIES

	Day School	Supplementary School
Los Angeles	33	67
Miami	37	63
Philadelphia	11	89
Pittsburgh	25	75

Sources: Los Angeles: Aron and Phillips, 1990; Miami: Sheskin, 1988; Philadelphia: Federation of Jewish Agencies of Greater Philadelphia, 1989; Pittsburgh: United Jewish Federation of Greater Pittsburgh, 1986.

I believe that we have a good deal to learn, in this regard, from the reports of the Holmes (1986) and Carnegie (1986) commissions, both of which advocated differentiated staffing, as explained in Section 1.4. A differentiated staffing arrangement in a Jewish school would be more complicated than in a public school, because it would have to accommodate differences in the number of hours teachers teach, and how they perceive their work, as well as different levels of legitimacy and autonomy. A range of different staffing arrangements can be imagined, from a day school staff consisting entirely of full-time aspiring and/or accomplished professionals, to a supplementary school staff with mostly avocational teachers. The following hypothetical models are offered for illustrative purposes:

Aleph School: A "Professional Development" Day School

Following the model of the "professional development" school in public education (Darling-Hammond, 1989), the Aleph School aspires to support and nurture beginning teachers, most of whom will go on to other schools after three to five years. All of the schools' 20 Judaica teachers are employed full-time, though none of them teach full-time. Each of the school's 14 classes is co-taught by a Judaica and general studies teacher; the Judaica teachers are all graduates of a local Jewish teacher training institute, and range in experience from 0-5 years. The newest of the teachers teach

only 2/3 time; the remainder of their week is spent developing materials, observing other teachers, and conferring with their mentor-teachers. With each year of experience, the teachers spend more time in the classroom, though even those who have five years of experience spend a few hours a week on the other tasks. The remaining six teachers are an outstanding group of veteran teachers, who serve as mentors for the remaining 14, and for student teachers at the training institution mentioned above. The mentor teachers form the administrative core of the school, working closely with the principal to set policy. Each mentor teacher also spends at least ten hours per week in the classroom, either covering for the other teachers or working on special projects.

Bet School: A K-12 Day School

Bet School is a day school organized on more conventional (and fiscally conservative) lines, with half a day allotted to Judaica, and half to general studies. With 26 classes, the school has 26 half-time Judaica slots. Since the high school program is departmentalized, the school is able to arrange the schedule so that some of the high school Judaica teachers have full-time jobs. Four of the upper division teachers have chosen this full-time option, while two others work 3/4 time. This leaves a total of 15 teachers who teach at the school half-time. In cooperation with the local bureau of Jewish education, the school has sought to create as many full-time, or nearly full-time, "packages" as possible. Three teachers serve as mentors and curriculum developers, under a grant from the Bureau. An additional four teach and/or do programming in the supplementary school of a nearby synagogue; the two schools, with financial assistance from the Bureau, offer these teachers full-time salaries and benefits. Three other teachers have hybrid teaching arrangements; one works as the school librarian; two others work half-time at Jewish Family Service. Of the five remaining teachers, three prefer to work half-time; two would like to be working full-time, and the director is trying to work out some arrangement for them.

The educational background of the teachers varies. About half are graduates of Jewish teacher training programs, in either the U.S. or in Israel. The school encourages all its teachers, and requires those who are not graduates of a training program, to be working towards the fulfillment of a plan for professional development. Each teacher's plan has been worked out individually with one of the school's supervisory personnel, with an eye to those areas in which he or she either needs or desires more knowledge or skill. Teachers meet these requirements by taking courses at the Bureau or at local colleges (their tuition is subsidized by the Bureau), or by pursuing an independent study arrangement with a designated mentor. Each teacher also has a supervisor, who observes and confers with him or her on a regular basis.

Gimel School: A Large Congregational Supplementary School

Gimel School has a student population of 750, and a teaching staff of 20. The school has an integrated Hebrew and Judaica curriculum, which means that each teacher stays with his or her class six hours a week, with the exception of a few high school

teachers, whose classes are of shorter duration. Since the maximum number of hours that a teacher can teach in the supplementary school is 16, no teachers have full-time teaching positions. Five of the teachers fall into the avocational category; they include two housewives, one aspiring actor, and two full-time graduate students, who teach only six hours each. None of these teachers has a degree in Jewish education, though the graduate students have extensive Judaica and camping experience, and the housewives are both former public school teachers. For each of these teachers the principal has created an individualized professional growth plan which focuses on workshops, conferences and independent projects, rather than formal courses.

At the other end of the spectrum are ten teachers who are in the "professional track," and have full-time positions either in the synagogue, or through a hybrid-teaching arrangement: Three are employed by the school as mentors, curriculum writers and program developers; these are the most fully professional, and are enrolled in a part-time graduate program in education at a local college. Four others teach twelve hours each, and are employed elsewhere in the synagogue, as pre-school teachers, a *havurah* coordinator, and an administrative assistant. The last three teach half-time at a local day school; the day and supplementary school, together with the Bureau, pay them a full- time salary plus benefits. The professional development plan for each of these teachers is also individualized, but is more rigorous. It consists of a sequence of courses and requirements the teachers are expected to have taken in the past, or be accumulating, gradually, on a part-time basis. The remaining five teachers might be considered more than avocational but less than professional. All teach twelve hours, and most would like to enter into some sort of full-time arrangement. This group has the most rigorous professional development schedule, with the promise that when the requirements are completed, every effort will be made to secure them full-time positions. Since their current positions are only part-time, these teachers are paid for time spent in courses and workshops.

Dalet School: A Medium-sized Supplementary School with Avocational Teachers

The Dalet School is located at a Jewish community center. It was founded fifteen years ago by parents looking to become more involved in their children's Jewish education. At the outset, the school had under 100 students, and all positions, whether teaching, administrative, secretarial, or janitorial, were volunteer. As the school grew, it hired a full-time education director and some mentor teachers, and began paying its other teachers an "honorarium" of \$750 a year, but its participatory philosophy remained the same. Currently, the school has 350 students and a teaching staff of 40. Three of the teachers are highly-paid professionals, whose primary responsibilities are teaching training, mentoring and curriculum development. The remaining 37 teachers are all avocational, and range in age from 17 to 70. Most teach three to six hours a week, but a few teach only two. All of the avocational teachers were trained in-house, in a program of two years' duration, prior to entering the classroom. This training program is on-going, with a new cycle beginning every two years, and each cohort numbering from two to six teachers-in-training. The low student-teacher ratio gives the school a good deal of flexibility. All classes are co-taught by at least two teachers, and there is a Hebrew language lab which is staffed by at least three teachers at all times. In addition, special projects, requiring special staff members, take place throughout the year.

The typical avocational teacher stays with the school from five to eight years, and the school has worked hard to put together a challenging program of in-service education. The school is particularly proud of three of its former teachers, who have gone on to enroll in full-time graduate programs in Jewish education.

In portraying four hypothetical schools, I have tried to show the different dimensions along which staffing arrangements can vary. The first dimension is setting: day vs. supplementary school is the most important difference; but the size of a school, and its location in or dependence on a larger institution can also be important. A second way in which schools differ is in their ideology: the Dalet School's emphasis on community participation lead to one staffing arrangement; the Gimel School's preference for an integrated Hebrew/Judaica curriculum has staffing limitations as well. The four schools vary in their institutional affiliations, as well: the Aleph School is closely linked to a Jewish teacher training institution; the Bet School has strong links to both the Bureau and another supplementary school; the Gimel School derives some of its flexibility in staffing from its location within a large congregation; the Dalet School is virtually independent of other institutions. Finally, the gap in per pupil expenditure between Aleph and Bet, on the one hand, and Gimel and Dalet, on the other, is quite large.

Despite these differences, the schools share certain commonalties, which distinguish them from the typical Jewish school:

1) The educational directors of all four schools see their role as extending beyond administration to include both training and staff development.

2) Each school has at least a few teachers who are compensated for tasks other than teaching, such as mentoring, supervision, and curriculum development. This policy allows the most professional teachers in the school an opportunity to expand their horizons and share their expertise with others.

3) It is unlikely that any of the schools, with the possible exception of the fourth, can raise sufficient funds to meet its payroll. Most schools with a number of fully professional teachers will require subsidies, possibly from an endowment fund.

4) All of the schools (including the fourth, if it requires external funds) have succeeded in upgrading the professional level of their faculties through forging links with other institutions, including other schools, colleges, bureaus of Jewish education, and local social service agencies. As discussed in Section 2, this type of cooperation cannot be mandated; but it does seem to be a necessary ingredient for the professionalization of teachers.

One can imagine any number of other differentiated staffing configurations, each responding to a different set of circumstances and each reflecting a different ideological perspective. However, it would be difficult for a school or a community to decide on a particular staffing arrangement (or whether, in fact, a differentiated staffing structure would be feasible at all, unless it could see a reasonably accurate projection of the costs involved. Research into the economics of differentiated staffing arrangements needs to be conducted. Concurrently, a series of feasibility studies exploring ways to increase school budgets through endowments, communal allocations, and other means should be embarked upon, to see how highly professional a staff various schools and communities can afford.

4.4 Conclusion

I have tried to delineate (as simply as possible, given the complexity of the issues), what professionalism in teaching, as a concrete reality rather than an honorific slogan, entails. Since the body of research on Jewish teachers is so limited, we have only a rudimentary sense of what level of professionalism the current pool of Jewish teachers has attained. Thus, a number of important questions remain: What percentage of our current pool of teachers can be considered professional, potentially professional, or unlikely to become professional? What would it take, in terms of training, supervision, and support, to move the potential professionals up the ladder? How professional a teaching staff can different Jewish communities afford? How professional a staff do they desire? These questions can only be answered once the research, experimentation and consciousness-raising outlined in the above proposals has begun. As I indicated above, I do not see these proposals as independent of one another; each is a necessary step towards the solution of a complicated, interlocking puzzle.

Writing in 1983 about public school teachers, Donna Kerr observed that it was time for Americans to acknowledge collective responsibility for the quality of teachers.

There is a disturbing duplicity in a society that itself fails to create the conditions that would foster teacher competence, and then complains of incompetent teachers. Our teaching corps can be no more competent than we make it.

[1983b, p. 131]

·

Today, in 1990, the same can be said for the Jewish community's responsibility to take ownership of the problems of Jewish teachers. Let us hope that the community will rise to accept the challenge.

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank Bruce Phillips and Debra Markovic for their help with some of the research reported in this paper. In addition, my heartfelt thanks to Sharon Feiman-Nemser, Sara Lee, and a group of researchers brought together by the Commission on Jewish Education in North America for their helpful comments on an earlier draft.



References

Aron, Isa. "Teaching as Sharing." The Melton Journal, No. 14, Spring, 1982.

. "Instruction and Enculturation in Jewish Education." Paper presented at the Conference on Research in Jewish Education, Los Angeles, June, 1987.

_____. "From Where Will the Next Generation of Jewish Teachers Come? Journal of Reform Judaism, 35 (Fall, 1988): 51-66.

". "The Malaise of Jewish Education." Tikkun, 4 (May/June 1989): 32-34.

- Aron, Isa and Adrianne Bank. "Dealing with the Shortage of Supplementary School Teachers." Unpublished manuscript commissioned by JESNA, Fall, 1986.
- Aron, Isa and Bruce Phillips. "The Los Angeles BJE Jewish Teacher Census." Unpublished manuscript, Spring, 1990.
- Babbit, Bruce. "Recruiting the Best and the Brightest: One State's Model." Education Week, March 5, 1986, p. 24.
- Bachrach, Samuel B. and Sharon C. Conley. "Educational Reform: A Managerial Agenda." *Phi Delta Kappan* 67 (1986): 641-45.
- Barth, Roland S. "School: A Community of Leaders." In Building a Professional Culture in Schools, edited by Ann Lieberman. New York: Teachers College Press, 1988.
- Beck, Howard. "The Nature of a Profession." In Education for the Professions, 61st Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education, Part 2. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1962.
- Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York. Jewish Supplementary Schooling: An Educational System in Need of Change. New York: Board of Jewish Education, 1988.

Broudy, H.S. "Teaching - Craft or Profession?" Educational Forum 20 (1956): 175-84.

- Carnegie Forum on Education and the Economy. A Nation Prepared: Teachers for the Twenty First Century. New York: Carnegie Forum, 1986.
- Chervin, Steven. "Knowledge and Beliefs of Torah Teachers in Jewish Religious Schools." Unpublished dissertation proposal, Stanford University, n.d.

Cogan, Morris. I. "Toward a Definition of a Profession." Harvard Educational Review 23 (1953): 33-50.

- Cohen, Burton. "New Educational Responsibilities for the Conservative Synagogue." The Melton Journal No. 14 (Spring 1982): p. 4 ff.
- Cohen, Steven M. "Outreach to the Marginally Affiliated." Journal of Jewish Communal Service 62 (1985): 147-57.

.American Assimilation or Jewish Revival Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1988.

- Coleman, James, et al. Equality of Educational Opportunity. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1966.
- Cooper, Myrna. "Whose Culture Is It, Anyway?" In Building a ProfessionalCulture in Schools, edited by Ann Lieberman. New York: Teachers College Press, 1988.
- Cooperman, Saul and Leo Klagholtz. "New Jersey's Alternate Route to Certification." Phi Delta Kappan 66 (1985): 691-95.
- Combined Jewish Philanthropies of Boston. "Report of the Task Force on Supplementary Jewish Education." Unpublished monograph, November, 1986.
- Darling-Hammond, Linda. "Valuing Teachers: The Making of a Profession." Teachers College Record 87 (1985): 205-18.

_____. "Accountability for Professional Practice." Teachers College Record 91 (1989): 59-80.

- Davidson, Aryeh. "The Training of Jewish Educators, 1989-90: A Status Report." Paper commissioned by the Commission for Jewish Education in North America, January, 1990.
- Debenham, Jerry and Michael Parsons. "The Future of Schools and Families: Three Scenarios and a Recommendation." Phi Delta Kappan 59 (1978): 442-46.
- DeVaney, Kathleen and Gary Sykes. "Making the Case for Professionalism." In Building a Professional Culture in Schools, edited by Ann Lieberman. New York: Teachers College Press, 1988.
- Dushkin, Alexander. Comparative Study of the Jewish Teacher in the Diaspora. Jerusalem: Institute for Contemporary Jewry, Hebrew University, 1970.
- Edelstein, Menachem. History of the Development of the Jewish Teaching Profession in America. New York: Jewish Education Committee, 1956.

- Erickson, Frederick. "Qualitative Methods in Research in Teaching." In Handbook of Research on Teaching, 3rd edition, edited by M. Wittrock. New York: Macmillan, 1986.
- Feiman-Nemser, Sharon. "Teacher Preparation: Structural and Conceptual Alternatives." Issue Paper 89-5. East Lansing, MI: National Center for Research on Teacher Education, 1989.
- Feiman-Nemser, Sharon and Robert Floden. "The Cultures of Teaching." In Handbook of Research on Teaching, 3rd edition, edited by M. Wittrock. New York: Macmillan, 1986.
- Fein, Leonard, et al. Reform is a Verb. New York: Union of American Hebrew Congregations, 1972.
- Feistritzer, Emily. The American Teacher. Washington, D.C.: Feistritzer Publications, 1983.
- Fishman, Syliva. Learning About Learning: Insights on Contemporary Jewish Education from Jewish Population Studies. Waltham, MA: Brandeis University, 1987.
- Feldstein, Donald and Barry Shrage. "Myths and Facts for Campaigners and Planners." Journal of Jewish Communal Service 63 (1987): 95-104.
- Flexner, Paul. "The Goals of Staff Development: An Overview." Pedagogic Reporter 39 (March, 1989): 3-5.
- Gage, N.L. The Scientific Basis of the Art of Teaching. New York: Teachers College Press, 1978.
 - . "The Paradigm Wars and Their Aftermath: A 'Historical' Sketch of Research on Teaching Since 1989???." *Teachers College Record* 91 (1989): 135-150.
- Genuth, Nitzah, et al. First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora, 1981/2-1982/3. Jerusalem: Hebrew University, 1985.
- Goodlad, John. A Place Called School. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1984.

- Grant, Gerald. "Schools That Make an Imprint: Creating a Strong Caes for a Positive Ethos." In Challenge to American Schools: The Case for Standards and Values, edited by John Bunzel. New York: Oxford University Press, 1985.
- Green, Thomas. "Excellence, Equity and EQuality." In Handbook of Teaching and Policy, edited by L. Shulman and G. Sykes. New York: Longman, 1983.

- Himmelfarb, Harold. "Response to Schiff," in Jewish Education 55 (Spring, 1987): 32-34.
- Holmes Group. Tomorrow's Teachers: A Report of the Holmes Group. East Lansing, MI: The Holmes Group, 1986.
- Huebner, Dwayne. "The Vocation of Teaching." In *Teacher Renewal: Professional Issues, Personal Choices*, edited by Frances Bolin and Judith McConnel Falk. New York: Teachers College Press, 1987.
- JESNA (Jewish Educational Services of North America). "Evaluation of the Joint Commission Program." Unpublished manuscript, August, 1984.

_____. "Accent on Accountability". Trends, No. 14, Spring, 1988.

Jackson, Phillip W. "Facing Our Ignorance." Teachers College Record 88 (1987): 384-89.

____. The Practice of Teaching. New York: Teachers College Press, 1986.

- Janowsky, Oscar, editor. The Education of American Jewish Teachers. Boston: Beacon Press, 1967.
- Johnson, Susan Moore. "Merit Pay for Teachers: A Poor Prescription for Reform." Harvard Educational Review 54 (1984): 175-85.
- Kerr, Donna. "Teaching Competence and Teacher Education in the United States." Teachers College Record 84 (1983a): 525-552.
- Kerr, Donna H. "Teacher Comptence and Teacher Education." In Handbook of Teaching and Policy, edited by L. Shulman and G. Sykes. New York: Longman, 1983b.
- Kimball, Bruce A. "The Problem of Teachers' Authority in Light of the Structural Analysis of the Professions." *Educational Theory* 38 (1988): 1-9.
- Lanier, Judith and Judith Little. "Research on Teacher Education." In Handbook ofResearch on Teaching, 3rd edition, edited by Merlin Wittrock. New YOrk: Macmillan, 1986.
- Lieberman, Ann, editor. Building a Professional Culture in Schools. New York: Teachers College Press, 1988.
- Liebman, Charles. The Ambivalent American Jew. Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 1973.

- Lightfoot, Sara Lawrence. "The Lives of Teachers." In Handbook of Teaching and Policy, edited by Lee Shulman and Gary Sykes. New York: Longman, 1983.
- Lortie, Dan. Schoolteacher. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1975.
- Martin, Jane Roland. "Reforming Teacher Education, Rethinking Liberal Education." Teachers College Record 88 (1987): 411-18.
- McDonald, Joseph. "Raising the Teacher's Voice and the Ironic Role of Theory." Harvard Educational Review 5 (1986): 355-378.
- McLaughlin, Milbrey Wallen and Sylvia Mei-ling Yee. "School as a Place to Have a Career." In Building a Professional Culture in Schools, edited by Ann Lieberman. New York: Teachers College Press, 1988.
- Metzger, Margaret and Clare Fox. "Two Teachers of Letters." Harvard Educational Review 56 (1986): 349-54.
- Mitchell, Douglas, Flora Ida Ortiz and Tedi K. Mitchell. Work Orientation and Job Performance: The Cultural Basis of Teaching Rewards and Incentives. Albany: SUNY Press, 1987.
- Moore, Wilbert E. The Professions: Roles and Rules. New York: Russel Sage Foundation, 1970.
- Moran, Gabriel. Religious Education as a Second Language. Birmingham, AL: Religious Education Press, 1989.
- Murname, Richard J. and David K. Cohen. "Merit Pay and the Evaluation Problem: Why Most Merit Pay Plans Fail and a Few Survive." Harvard Educational Review 56 (1986): 1-17.
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. A Nation at Risk: The Imperative for Educational Reform. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, 1983.
- Noddings, Nel. Caring: A Feminine Approach to Ethics and Moral Education. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1984.
- Omer-Man, Jonathan. "The Teacher as Role Model." The Melton Journal No. 14 (Spring, 1982): p. 3 ff.
- Ratner, Charles and James Reich. Report of the Joint Federation/Congregational Plenum Commission on Jewish Continuity. Cleveland: Jewish Federation Council, 1988.

- Reimer, Joseph, editor. To Build a Profession: Careers in Jewish Education. Waltham, MA: Brandeis University Press, 1987.
- Rosenbaum, Jonathan. "The Community Teacher Concept: A Different Approach to Professionalizing Jewish Pedagogues." Jewish Education 51 (1983): 27-31.
- Rosenak, Michael. Commandments and Concerns: Jewish Religious Education in Secular Society. Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 1987.
- Sarason, Seymour. The Culture of the School and the Problem of Change. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, 1971.
- Schiff, Alvin. "The Jewish Schoolteacher Today and Tomorrow." Jewish Education 55 (Spring, 1987): 5-7.

_____. "Teachers and Principals – The Crucial Link to the Bureaus." Jewish Education 57 (Fall, 1989): 2-11.

- Schoem, David. Ethnic Survival in America: An Ethnography of a Jewish Afternoon School. Atlanta: Scholars' Press, 1989.
- Schoenberg, Zvi. "The Practical Knowledge of Day School Teachers." Paper presented at the First Annual Conference on Research in Jewish Education, Los Angeles, June, 1987.

- Sedlak, Michael. "Tomorrow's Teachers: The Essential Arguments of the Holmes Group Report." Teachers College Record 88 (1987): 314-325.
- Sheskin, Ira. The Miami Jewish Educator Study. Miami: Central Agency for Jewish Education, 1988.
- Shevitz, Susan. "The Deterioration of the Profession of Jewish Supplementary School Teaching: An Analysis of the Effects of Communal Myths on Policy and Program." In Studies in Jewish Education, Vol. 3, edited by Janet Aviad. Jerusalem: Magnes Press, 1988.
- Shulman, Lee. "Knowledge and Teaching: Foundations of the New Reform." Harvard Educational Review 57 (1987): 1-22.

. "A Union of Insufficiencies: Strategies for Teacher Assessment in a Period of Educational Reform." *Educational Leadership*, November, 1988: 36-41.

Spencer, Dee Ann. Contemporary Women Teachers: Balancing Home and School, New York: Longman, 1986.

Sykes, Gary. "Caring About Teachers." Teachers College Record 84 (1983a): 579-92.

. "Public Policy and the Problem of Teacher Quality: The Need for Screens and Magnets." In *Handbook of Teaching and Policy*, edited by Lee Shulman and Gary Sykes. New York: Longman, 1983b.

. "Teaching and Professionalism: A Cautionary Perspective." In Crisis in Teaching: Perspectives on Current Reforms, edited by Lois Weis et al. Albany, NY: State University Press, 1989.

Urbanski, Adam. "The Rochester Contract: A Status Report." Educational Leadership, November, 1988, pp. 48-52.

Waller, Williard. The Sociology of Teaching. New York, John Wiley, 1932/1967.

Westerhoff, John. Will Our Children Have Faith? New York: Seabury Press, 1976.

Wigginton, Eliot. Sometimes a Shining Moment: The Foxfire Experience. New York: Anchor/Doubleday, 1985.

Woocher, Jonathan. "Response to Schiff", in Jewish Education 55 (Spring, 1987): 59-62.

Zumwalt, Karen K. "Research on Teaching: Policy Imperatives for Teacher Education." In Policy Making in Education, 81st Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education, Part I. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1982.

AN INTRODUCTION TO THE CASE STUDY METHOD

PREPARATION, ANALYSIS, AND PARTICIPATION

Introduction

A case study is a written description of a problem or situation. Unlike other forms of stories and narrations, a case study does not include analysis or conclusions but only the facts of a story arranged in a chronological sequence. The purpose of a case study is to place participants in the role of decision-makers, asking them to distinguish pertinent from peripheral facts, to identify central alternatives among several issues competing for attention, and to formulate strategies and policy recommendations. The method provides an opportunity to sharpen problem-solving skills and to improve the ability to think and reason rigorously.

Most cases depict real situations. In some instances, the data is disguised, and infrequently, the case may be fictional. Cases are not intended to be comprehensive or exhaustive. Most cases are snap shots of a particular situation within a complex environment.

The focus of a case study is on a main protagonist who is shown at the point of a major decision. Typically, the information presented is only what was available to the protagonist in the real situation on which the case is based. Thus, as in real life, important information is often unavailable or incomplete. Because a case study describes reality, it may be frustrating. "Real-life" is ambiguous, and cases reflect that reality A "right" answer or "correct solution" is rarely apparent.

Although the case study method is principally used in the development and improvement of management skill and leadership ability, its usefulness is not limited to this field. For example, case study pedagogy is also used to teach medical diagnosis to doctors, classroom skills to teachers, and legal decision-making to lawyers. This educational method is useful whenever decision-making must be derived primarily from skillful analysis, choice, and persuasion. The case study method actively engages the participant in these processes: first, in the analysis of the facts and details of the case itself; second, in the selection of a strategy; and third, in the refinement and defense of the chosen strategy in the

Copyright 1988 by the President and Fellows of Harvard College.

This note was prepared by Sharon A. McDade, Director of the Institute for Educational Management. It was based in part on information included in similar notes on the case method from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration, the Institute for Educational Management, and the Institute for Management of Lifelong Education.

discussion group and before the class. The case method does not provide a set of solutions, but rather refines the student's ability to ask the appropriate questions and to make decisions based upon his or her answers to those questions.

į.

Preparation

The case study method is demanding and requires significant preparation time and active class participation. It is intended to build on experiences of the class members and to allow them to learn from one another as well as from the materials and from faculty members. Differences in analysis among participants and faculty members typically arise, and conflicting recommendations emerge as participants with varied perspectives, experiences and professional responsibilities consider the case.

Preparation of a case for class discussion varies with the background, concerns, and natural interests of participants. In general, it is helpful to follow these steps:

- 1. Skim the text quickly to establish the broad issues of the case and the types of information presented for analysis.
- 2. Reread the case very carefully, underlining key facts as you go.
- Note on scratch paper the key problems. Then go through the case again and sort out the relevant considerations and decisions for each problem area.
- 4. Prioritize these problems and alternatives.
- 5. Develop a set of recommendations to address these problems.
- Evaluate your decisions.

. . . .

The attached "Suggested Tasks in Analyzing Case Studies" provides a more detailed analysis process. The numbers refer to key analysis points in the sample case entitled "Mojave University."

Another useful educational exercise is to write an analysis of the case. In business, as in many other fields, recommendations are written, even if first presented orally. To enable the reader to quickly focus on important points and to find things within the document without having to read every word, it is best to write a case analysis in outline form, with the liberal use of sub-headings and sufficient tables and charts to illustrate points and relationships.

Participation

Much of the richness of the case study method comes from the class discussion of the cases. The differences which emerge through discussion add richness and dimension to consideration of the issues. It is often helpful to meet with a small number of participants before class to review data, compare analyses, and discuss strategies. This is the time to test and refine your choice of strategies, and to explore and enrich your understanding of the issues in the case through the perspectives of others.

The faculty member's role is to involve many participants in presenting and defending their analyses and recommendations. The faculty member moderates discussion, calling on participants, guiding the discussion, asking questions, and synthesizing comments. Discussion is intended to develop and test the nature and implications of alternate solutions.

The success of a case study class depends largely on your active and vigorous participation. Remember to:

- -- Assert your ideas and prepare to support them.
- -- Listen to others and evaluate their positions.
- Keep an open mind, yet be willing to change it upon new insights or evidence.
- -- Make a decision; do not avoid or equivocate.
- -- Enjoy yourself,

_....

General Notes on Case Studies

A case should seem difficult. If a case seems difficult, it is invariably because the student is thinking and has recognized a need for additional information. There is no such thing as a state of perfect knowledge and all decisions are made under varying degrees of uncertainty. It is just as important to know what information is missing, and its relative importance, as it is to be able to decide upon a course of action.

All cases are not meant to be alike. All cases do not require identical emphasis. Many students who enjoy case analysis in one discipline, may be frustrated by cases in another field. In certain disciplines, problem identification and definition alone may be emphasized because of the nature of the discipline; in other fields problems may be elusive but solutions relatively obvious. Development of alternatives may be emphasized to a greater degree in certain other cases.

Cases offer multiple perspectives. Although a case is traditionally written from the viewpoint of a main protagonist, each case includes a variety of characters with major and minor roles. It is often equally productive to analyze those characters' perspectives, problems, challenges and opportunities.

Half of the value is in the discussion. Although much can be derived from simply reading cases, much of the true benefit of cases comes from discussion. The case method allows participants to learn from one another as well as from the materials and faculty members. It allows for a sharing of varied perspectives and values in a non-threatening discussion format not ordinarily found in non-classroom settings.

Case discussions vary. No two class discussions of a case are the same. Professors who teach cases often can attest to the variety of possible outcomes inherent in any case discussion. New students bring new insights, which make case teaching as educational for the professor as for the students.

<u>in Analyzir</u>	ig Case	
TASK		SELECTED ILLUSTRATIONS IN TEXT QUESTIONS TO ASK
Become familiar with case substance	1	What are the facts? What is happening? Is all relevant information available to you?
Determine central issues	2	What decisions need to be made? Who is responsible for making decisions? What factors, issues, and consequences need to be taken into account?
Identify objectives and goals to be achieved	3	Which outcomes are possible? Which are desirable? Which objectives are most important to whom?
Ascertain resources and constraints	ζ.	Which forces support and oppose which actions? Which resources can be marshalled in support of actions? What are the major obstacles?
Ascertain the nature of conflicts	5	What is the substance of conflicts? Can conflicting positions and plans be reconciled?
Identify dynamics of behavior	6	Who is exercising leadership? Are there interpersonal conflicts? Are the persons involved effective in support of their respective positions?
Determine major alternatives	7	Are there ideas and strategies that have not been presented? Is compromise possible? Are the alternatives complementary or mutually exclusive?
Assess consequences of likely decisions and actions	8	What actions are likely to result from the decisions made? What unintended consequences might emerge? What are the short and long term consequences for the individuals and the institutions?
Consider appropriate strategies and priorities	9	What are the most effective ways of achieving and implementing the objectives and decisions? Are there intermediate steps or stages?

Suggested Tasks

References on the Case Study Method

-

- -

- 1. The most comprehensive book available on the case study method:
 - Christensen, C. Roland with Abby J. Hansen. (1987) <u>Teaching and the</u> <u>Case Method: Text. Cases. and Readings</u>. Boston, Massachusetts: Harvard Business School. (Includes notes on case teaching, learning, classroom discussion and many cases on classroom teaching problems and processes. There is also a supplemental teacher's book which must be specifically requested.)
- Articles on case teaching and preparation are available from the Harvard Business School Case Clearinghouse.

Harvard Business School. [printed annually] <u>Directory of</u> <u>Harvard Business School Cases and Course Materials</u>. Boston, Massachusetts: Harvard Business School. Available from HBS Case Services, Harvard Business School, Boston, MA 02163, (617) 495-6117. Cases, teaching notes, and articles are \$2.50 list price, \$1.25 educational and bookstore price.

- Andrews, Kenneth. "The Role of the Instructor in the Case Method." (370-143)
- Bennett, John. "Writing a Case and Its Teaching Note." (376-243)
- Bonoma, T. V. "Questions and Answers about Case Learning." (582-059)

Corey, E. Raymond. "Case Method Teaching." (581-058)

---. "The Use of Cases in Management Education." (376-240)

- Davis, R. T. "Some Suggestions For Writing a Business Case." (355-005)
- Gragg, Charles A. "Because Wisdom Can't Be Told." (451-005)

---. "Teachers Must Also Learn." (375-010)

and and against a

Hammond, John S. "Learning by the Case Method." (376-241)

Hansen, Abby. "A Note to Discussion Teachers: Power in the Classroom." (382-176)

---. "A Note to Teachers on Self-Management." (382-176)

Lawrence, P. R. "Preparation of Case Material." (451-006)



Learned, E. P. "Reflections of a Case Method Teacher." (381-006)

Merry, R. W. "Preparation to Teach A Case." (354-021)

---. "Use of Case Material in the Classroom." (354-019)

McNair, Malcolm. "Tough-Mindedness and the Case Method." (379-090)

Mason, Charles. "Notes to a Beginning Case Method Teacher." (381-007)

Shapiro, Benson. "An Introduction to Cases." (584-097)

---. "An Introduction to the Case Method." (576-031)

---. "Hints for Case Teaching." (585-012)

3. Other articles

Argyris, Christopher. (1980) "Some Limitations of the Case Method: Experience in a Management Development Program." <u>Academy of Management Review</u> 5: 291-298.

Berger, M. (1983) "In Defense of the Case Method: A Reply to Argyris." <u>Academy of Management Review</u> 8: 329-333.

Copeland, M. T. (1958) "The Case Method of Instruction." In <u>And Mark an Era: The Story of the Harvard Business</u> <u>School</u>. Boston: Little Brown & Co.

Frederick, P. (1981) "The Dreaded Discussion: Ten Ways to Start." <u>Improving College and University Teaching</u> 29: 109-114.

Hunt, P. (1951) "The Case Method of Instruction." <u>Harvard</u> <u>Educational Review</u> 21: 2-19.

Miner, F. C. (1978) "An Approach for Increasing Participation in Case Discussions." <u>Exchange: The</u> <u>Organizational Behavior Teaching Journal</u> 3: 41-42.

Reynolds, J. I. (1978) "There is Method in Cases." <u>The</u> <u>Academy of Management Review</u> 3: 129-133.

Roethlisberger, F. J. (1977) "Teaching by the Case Method." In <u>The Elusive Phenomena</u>, ed. G. F. F. Lombard. Boston: Division of Research, Harvard University Graduate School of Business Administration.

-

* **

- 4. Other books
 - Andrews, Kenneth R., ed (1953) <u>The Case Method of Teaching</u> <u>Human Relations and Administration</u>. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
 - Erskine, J. A.; Leenders, M. R.; and Mauffette-Leenders, L. A. (1981) <u>Teaching with Cases</u>. London: Research and Publications Division, School of Business Administration, The University of Western Ontario.
 - Fraser, C. E., ed. (1931) <u>The Case Method of Instruction:</u> <u>A Related Series of Articles</u>. New York, McGraw-Hill.
 - Lang, Cynthia. (1986) <u>Case Method Teaching in the</u> <u>Community College</u>. Newton, MA: Educational Development Center. (Comes with videotape of case teaching session, available from Educational Development Center, 55 Chapel St., Newton, MA 02160)
 - McNair, M. P. and Hersum, A. C. (1954) <u>The Case Method at</u> the <u>Harvard Business School</u>. New York: KcGraw-Hill.
 - Reynolds, J. I. (1980) <u>Case Method in Management</u> <u>Development: Guide for Effective Use</u>. Geneva, Switzerland: Management Development Series, No. 17, International Labour Office.
 - Tedesco, P. H. (1974) <u>Teaching with Case Studies</u>. Boston: Public Information Center, Federal Reserve Bank of Boston.